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1 Summary 

 

1.1 Introduction 

1.1.2 The following document details the preliminary results of an excavation at Tullaghoge 

Fort, Cookstown Co. Antrim (Figures 1 and 2). The excavation was undertaken by the 

Centre for Archaeological Fieldwork QUB, and the Northern Ireland Environment 

Agency with support from Cookstown Council. Primary School groups as well as adult 

volunteers participated in the excavation which was undertaken over a three week 

period during September 2014.  

 

1.1.3 The excavation was carried out under the direction of the author and involved the 

manual excavation of six trenches at various locations in the immediate vicinity of the 

fort (TYR 038:016). The trenches were excavated both within the scheduled areas to 

the north and south of the fort (Trenches 3-6), as well as the non-scheduled area to 

the west (Trenches 1 and 2). 

 

 

1.2 Aims and objectives 

 

1.2.1 The primary aim of the September excavation was to investigate a number of 

geophysical anomalies that have been identified through survey at the site since 

2006. It was also intended that magnetic gradiometery would be employed in the 

Scheduled Areas to assess the potential of this method for identifying archaeological 

features at Tullaghoge. 

1.2.2 An important component of this investigation was the participation of adult volunteers 

and school groups during the investigation. This was particularly successful with over 

400 school children (P6 and P7 age) as well as 35 adult volunteers being involved. 

 

 

1.3 Excavation 

 

1.3.1 A total of six trenches were manually excavated, located in the areas north, south and 

west of the fort (Figure 10). The trenches were located in an effort to ground truth 

geophysical anomalies identified through electrical resistivity survey carried out at the 

site between 2006 and 2014 (in the case of trenches 1, 2, 4 and 6), as well as to 

investigate the possible remains of the inauguration chair (trenches 3 and 5). The 

results of the excavation of these trenches varied with archaeologically significant 

features and deposits confined exclusively to Trench 6 (the remains of a cereal-drying 

kiln which produced a radiocarbon date of 722-985 AD). Little else of archaeological 
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significance was encountered with the excavation of the trenches intended to 

investigate the possible inauguration sites inconclusive. 

 

 

1.4 Discussion 

 

1.4.1 The excavation was successful in that features dating to the Early Medieval period 

were identified through geophysical survey, excavated and recorded furthering our 

understanding of the type and scale of the activity in the immediate vicinity of 

Tullaghoge Fort at a time when the documentary sources are sparse. The cereal-

drying kiln excavated in Trench 6 is the second such feature to be encountered 

during investigations at Tullaghoge. During a evaluative exercise carried out by CAF 

in January 2014 in the area intended to be developed as a new car park to serve 

the monument, a similar feature was excavated (Sloan 2014). Radiocarbon 

determinations obtained from charred grain suggest this kiln to have been in use in 

the early to middle seventh century while the feature excavated during this 

investigation indicate a date range of the eighth to tenth century. This indicates that 

the processing of cereal was carried out for a prolonged period of time. 

 

1.5 Recommendations 

 

1.5.1 A number of recommendations are made in Section 5 of this report so the project 

can be brought to a successful conclusion. These include analysis of the artefactual 

material recovered (including flint, pottery and metal working residue) as well as the 

analysis of the macro-fossil assemblage obtained through processing of the 

samples recovered from the fills of the kiln in Trench 6. 

 

1.5.2 A radiocarbon determination has been obtained for the cereal-drying kiln in Trench 

6. A sample of charred barley from the main fill of the kiln (Context No. 604) 

returned a calibrated date range of 722-985 AD indicating the kiln was in use at 

some point between the eighth and tenth centuries. 
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Figure 1: Location of Tullaghoge Fort (TYR 038:016) (red dot). 
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Figure 2: Detailed location of Tullaghoge Fort (TYR 038:016) (red dot).
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2 Introduction 

 

2.1 General 

 

2.1.1 The Centre for Archaeological Fieldwork (CAF), Queenôs University Belfast was 

requested by the Northern Ireland Environment Agency (NIEA) to undertake a 

community excavation in the immediate environs of Tullaghoge Fort (H8250 7430; 

TYR 038:016). This work was carried out in collaboration with Cookstown Council and 

was aided by the participation of local primary schools and adult volunteers. 

 

2.1.2 Tullaghoge is situated in the low-laying, water-logged geography of mid-Ulster west of 

Lough Neagh. The fort is sited on top of a drumlin and commands impressive 

panoramic views. The monument is in the townland of Ballymully Glebe (Farmstead 

of the summit ï Siobhan McDermott). The monument today consists of a central, 

raised hexagonal platform with a pronounced lip forming a bank around the perimeter. 

This is encircled by a broad, flat-bottomed fosse and a high outer bank, which is 

overgrown with trees. The focus of this report is the area to the west of the fort, and 

the scheduled areas to the immediate north and south of the monument. 

 

2.1.2 Excavation was requested to further our understanding of the activity in the 

immediate environs of the monument as well as to ground-truth geophysical 

anomalies that have been identified through resistivity (2006-2013) and magnetic 

gradiometery surveys (2014). Excavation duly took place between Monday 8th 

September ï Wednesday 1st October 2014. 

 

2.1.3 The excavation was directed by Brian Sloan (CAF) under Licence AE/14/124E. 

 

2.2 Geological Background 

 

2.2.1 The solid geology of Tullaghoge consists of carboniferous limestone, with significant 

glacial deposits above (Alistair Ruffell pers comm.). The drift geology is interesting as 

it varies quite considerably across the site from firm red orange boulder clay to loose 

gravel. 

 

2.3 Historical background of Tullaghoge 

 

2.3.1 A comprehensive review of the historical background of Tullaghoge Fort has 

previously been provided by Dr. Siobhan McDermott (McDermott 2013). What follows 

here is a short synopsis of McDermottôs work.  
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2.3.2 The origin of Tullaghoge Fort is uncertain. It has been speculated that the monument 

has origins as a prehistoric enclosure, or perhaps as an Early Medieval rath 

(FitzPatrick 2004, 144). Documentary sources concerning the Early Medieval 

occupation of the area are relatively scarce, although evidence is present that the 

territory of Tulach Og (bounded by the Moyola River to the north, Lough Neagh to the 

east and the Blackwater River to the south) is in existence by at least the eleventh 

century, being first under the influence of the Aileach and then coming under Cenel 

Eoghain control (ibid, 139; Donnelly 1997, 74). The site is mentioned in The Annals of 

Ulster under the date 914AD where it states a peace treaty was signed between Niall 

Son of Aed, King of Ailech and Aed King of óThe Provinceô (Mac Niocaill 1983). 

Although not specifically referenced as an inauguration site until 1432AD (OôDonovan 

1851), it can be reasonably assumed that the area served this purpose for first the 

Airgialla, followed by the Aileach and then the Cenel Eoghain (ibid) indicating the 

importance of the area from at least the later stages of the Early Medieval period. 

Specific references to the actual site of Tullaghoge are rare in the early texts, 

although there are accounts of an attack by the Ulaid in 1111AD when the venerable 

tree was cut down in revenge to a previous Cenel Eoghain attack on Crew Hill in 

1099AD (ibid, 140). 

 

 

Figure 3: Composite map drawn by Bartlett c. 1601. This map depicts the OôNeill 

strongholds of Tullaghoge and Dungannon (only the upper portion of the map 

showing Tullaghoge Fort and the inauguration chair are shown here). 
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2.3.3 By the thirteenth century Tullaghoge was the epicentre of the Northern OôNeill 

Lordship, existing as such until the early seventeenth century. Richard Bartlett is 

credited with at least two illustrations of Tullaghoge, both drawn during the conflict 

between the OôNeill Lordship and the crown forces at the end of the sixteenth and 

beginning of the seventeenth centuries. A composite image depicting the OôNeill 

strongholds of Tullaghoge and Dungannon illustrates a two storey, hip-gabled house 

and a single storey dwelling, within the interior of Tullaghoge fort (Figures 3 and 4) 

(McDermott 2013, 9). The monument drawn by Bartlett differs from what now tops the 

hill: It is enclosed by a single, tree-topped bank. Two entrances marked by posts 

which form lintel gateways appear to oppose each other. A path runs to the north of 

the fort from the foot of the hill. The area to the south and east is wooded (ibid). The 

inauguration seat is located further downhill on the eastern slope of Tullaghoge 

drumlin (Figures 3 and 4).  

 

 

Figure 4: Detail of Bartlettôs representation of Tullaghoge Fort, with two houses located 

in the interior. The inauguration chair is located down-slope on the right of the map.  

 

2.3.4  Such was the importance of the inaugural chair at Tullaghoge, to Tudor expansion, 

that it was illustrated on a number of occasions. Jobsonôs maps from c. 1590 and c. 

1598 (FitzPatrick 2004, 151) both note the location of óthe stone where Oneale is 

namedô. An unsigned map of Ulster probably dating to the beginning of the 

seventeenth century depicts a scene from an inauguration ceremony at Tullaghoge 

(Figure 5). An inscription underneath the scene reads, óTullogh oge on this hill the 

Irish create their ONealeô. The chair was destroyed by English forces after OôNeillôs 

defeat at Kinsale, although three large boulders are currently located in the general 
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area that Bartlett depicts the chair. It was hoped that the location of two of the 

trenches in relation to these stones would clarify their relationship with the fort and 

perhaps identify the site of the inauguration stone (for further details see Account of 

the excavations for Trenches 3 and 5)..  

 

Figure 5: Unsigned map showing the inauguration ceremony at Tullaghoge. 

 

2.3.5  Following the Flight of the Earls, occupation of the site continued on into the early 

Plantation period when it was granted to a Robert Lindsey in 1611. In 1619 a Mrs 

Lindsey held 1,000 acres with óa good strong bawne of earth, with a quick-set hedge 

upon it, and a ditch, a timber house within, in which she and her family dwellô (Cal. 

Carew MSS.1619, 413). The adoption of Gaelic settlement foci and forms by the 

Planter community in the early 17th-century occurred throughout the escheated 

counties (Cal. Carew MSS. 1611, 94; Harris 1757, 84-5; McDermott 2013). However 

by 1622 the family had moved to a new residence at the foot of the hill, probably to 

the south of the monument near to where the village of Tullyhogue is situated (Edith 

Logue pers comm.). 

 

2.4 Previous archaeological investigation 

 

2.4.1 An archaeological evaluation (directed by Naomi Carver of the CAF under Licence 

No. AE/12/97E) was carried out at a site 60m north-west of 60 Tullywiggan Road, 

Ballymully Glebe, Tullaghoge, Co. Tyrone in response to a planning application for a 

new dwelling and double garage (Planning Ref  No:  I/2012/0006/F). The evaluation 

consisted of seven mechanically-excavated test trenches each 30m long and 1.5m 

wide. No remains of archaeological significance were uncovered during the course of 

the evaluation with sod and topsoil directly overlying the subsoil in each of the 

trenches (Carver 2012, 2). 
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2.4.2 An archaeological evaluation was carried out in advance of the proposed 

development of amenities to better promote the monument to the public (to include a 

new car park as well as picnic and interpretative facilities). The investigation was 

carried out in January 2014, under Licence No. AE/14/01E (Sloan 2014). A total of 

thirty-three trenches were excavated in Areas 1 and 2 (Figure 10). The methodology 

employed during the investigation included the manual excavation of test pits 

measuring 2m in length by 1m in width (Trenches 1-26 in Areas 1 and 2) as well as 

mechanically excavated trenches measuring approximately 12-14m in length by 1.5m 

in width (trenches 27-33 in Area 1). The mechanical excavation of the trenches was 

undertaken by a digger using a smooth edged ósheughô bucket under archaeological 

supervision. In all cases, the trenches were excavated to the surface of the natural 

geological subsoil, which varied across the site. 

 

2.4.3 In Area 1, the majority of trenches displayed little archaeological significance with sod 

and topsoil overlying of hill-wash deposits and subsoil. The stratigraphy encountered 

was on the whole relatively shallow with the surface of the subsoil being encountered 

between 0.4-0.6m below the modern ground surface. A deeper stratigraphic 

sequence was encountered in Trench 8 and it is postulated that this represents post-

medieval quarrying of the limestone bedrock, documented on the 1st edition OS map 

of the area. Evidence of the agricultural improvement of the area was found in Trench 

12 where a field drain was encountered. Finds from the fill of this feature indicate that 

this a relatively modern feature, supported by documentary evidence (Quigley & Hore 

1857, 237). In general, the finds from the different trenches included a small corpus of 

post-medieval pottery sherds, probable prehistoric pottery, flint artefacts and modern 

glass fragments, on the whole from topsoil and hill-wash deposits within the trenches. 

 

2.4.4 The excavation of Trench 32 in Area 1 revealed an archaeologically significant 

feature. This is a circular pit (Cxt. 3205 measuring 2.5m in width and 0.4m in depth) 

filled with charcoal rich strata (Cxts. 3207, 3212 and 3204). Following the initial use of 

the feature (deposition of Context Nos. 3207 and 3212) the feature was made 

narrower by the positioning of large sub-rounded rocks (Cxt 3208) and clay (Cxt. 

3210) along the northern edge, after which the main body of fill (Cxt. 3204) was 

deposited. Two stake holes (Cxts. 3214 and 3216) were located at the western, down 

slope edge of the pit, and it is thought that these may be associated with the use of 

the pit (Cxt 3205). It is proposed that a comparison of the radiocarbon dates from 

these stakeholes and the fill of the pit will clarify their chronological relationship. No 

artefacts were recovered from the fills of this feature. However, initial processing of 

samples taken from the lowermost deposit (Cxt. 3207) has revealed a substantial 

amount of charred grain and seeds. A sample of these was submitted for radiocarbon 
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dating (UB_NO 25219), the results of which indicate the feature dates to the 7th 

Century AD (606 ï 668 AD; 95% probability).  

 

2.4.5 The presence of substantial amounts of charred gain within the pit feature suggests 

that the feature represents the remains of a corn drying kiln. Corn-drying kilns are a 

common feature in Irish archaeology, with numerous being identified and recorded 

during infrastructure excavations in the Republic of Ireland (OôSullivan & Downey 

2005, 32). They are generally associated with activity in the Early Medieval period, 

although were still in use into relatively modern times. Some evidence has emerged 

recently of a possible Bronze Age origin for the feature (McQuade et al 2009, 33). 

Nothing else of archaeological significance was encountered during the excavation of 

Trench 32 or the rest of Area 1, with recommendations made for further investigation 

in advance of the development of the public services in this area (Sloan 2014). 

 

2.4.6 Area 2 showed more archaeological potential, with evidence of Early Mesolithic 

activity and 19th century structures being encountered. Subsoil cut features filled with 

charcoal rich soil were encountered in Trenches 22 and 26, although the lack of 

artefactual material makes interpretation of these at this stage problematic. Following 

the identification of Early Mesolithic material from the topsoil deposits in Area 2, the 

NIEA were consulted and it was decided not to mechanically excavate trenches in 

this area.  

 

2.4.7 The stone footings for a wall (Context No. 1604) were encountered in Trench 16. A 

structure is represented in this area on the 1st edition OS map, and geophysical 

survey undertaken in 2013 showed a high resistance anomaly in the vicinity which 

could represent the rubble and/or foundations of this structure. The area was selected 

for further investigation during the community led excavation that forms the basis of 

this report (please see the Account of excavations for Trench 1). 

 

2.5 Surrounding archaeological landscape 

 

2.5.1 Tullaghoge Fort is located in a relatively sparse archaeological landscape. An 

analysis of the Sites and Monuments Record (NISMR) for the immediate area 

surrounding the fort shows that, what sites are identified in the immediate area, 

predominately date to the Early Medieval period. Of particular interest is the 

Counterscarp Rath (TYR 038:013) located in Loughry townland approximately 600m 

to the west of Tullaghoge Fort (Figure 6; Table 1).  
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2.5.2 Also of interest are two sites that are located in Donaghrisk townland, on the opposite 

side of the Tullywiggan Road (TYR 038:014 and 038:015). Both these sites relate to a 

Medieval ecclesiastical site apparently established in the thirteenth century (Chapman 

2013, 4; McDermott 2013, 8). The graveyard enclosed by the 18th/19th-century circular 

wall (TYR 038:015) is traditionally seen as the ancient burial place of the OôHaganôs. 

 

 

 

Figure 6: Screen grab from NIEA Map Viewer (accessed 18/2/14) showing sites and 

monuments in the immediate vicinity of Tullaghoge Fort (TYR 038:016). Detail of the 

numbered sites and monuments are given in Table 1. 

 

Map Signifier SMR # SITE TYPE TOWNLAND GRID REF. 

1 TYR 038:016 Tullaghoge (multi) Ballymully Glebe H82507430 

2 TYR 038:015 Friarôs Well Donaghrisk H 8216074050 

3 TYR 038:014 Graveyard Donaghrisk H 8207073970 

4 TYR 038:038 Circular Cropmark Donaghrisk H 8204073750 

5 TYR 038:021 Enclosure Donaghrisk H 8180074280 

6 TYR 038:013 Counterscarp Rath Loughry H 8132074100 

 

Table 1: Sites and Monuments in the immediate vicinity of Tullaghoge Fort                

(TYR 038:016) 

 

2.5 Summary of the geophysical surveys 2006-2014 

 

2.5.1 A number of geophysical surveys have been undertaken by the CAF at Tullaghoge 

and the surrounding fields that are under the ownership of the NIEA. Currently the fort 

and the fields to the immediate north and south of the monument are Scheduled. 

Three seasons (2006, 2008 and 2013) of geophysical survey have been undertaken 

at Tullaghoge fort and the surrounding fields (Trick and McHugh 2006; McHugh and 
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